I. NATURE OF THE CASE 

This appeal stems from the trial court's compounding mistakes at a 

de novo trial following mandatory arbitration. First, although the jury 

issued an award grounded in the evidence, the court awarded $3,000 in 

additur. Second, the court misapplied Niccum v. Enquist, 175 Wn.2d 441 

(2012), to the additur-increased verdict and awarded plaintiff attorney fees 

pursuant to MAR 7.3. The court's orders and judgment constitute 

reversible errors. 

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The trial court erred in awarding additur and entering the 

corresponding judgment where the jury was able to conclude, based on the 

evidence, that plaintiff was not entitled to future general damages. (CP 

670-71, 1044-46) 

2. The trial court erred in entering Finding of Fact No.2 in which it 

stated that it was undisputed that plaintiff s injuries were permanent and 

that he would continue to suffer pain in the future.! (CP 1048) 

3. The trial court erred in subtracting costs from an offer of 

compromise resulting in an award of attorney fees pursuant to MAR 7.3 

and a corresponding judgment. (CP 1044-46, 1054-55) 

I A copy of Findings of Fact Nos. 1,2, and 4 is in the Appendix pursuant to RAP 1O.4(c). 



4. The trial court erred in entering Finding of Fact No.1 in which it 

stated that plaintiff made an offer of compromise in the amount of 

$26,000.00. (CP 1048) 

5. The trial court erred in entering Finding of Fact No.4 in which it 

stated that the verdict amount exceeded the amount of the offer of 

compromIse. (CP 1048) 

III. ISSUES PRESENTED 

1. Did the trial court make a reversible error III granting 

additur where there was sufficient evidence for the jury to conclude that 

plaintiff was not entitled to future general damages? (Pertaining to 

Assignments of Error Nos. 1-2) 

2. Did the trial court make a reversible error by awarding 

attorney fees pursuant to MAR 7.3 where defendant improved his position 

at trial compared to the offer of compromise? (Pertaining to Assignments 

of Error Nos. 3-5) 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Jess Nelson and Michael Erickson were involved in an automobile 

accident on December 23, 2010. (CP 2) In 2012, Nelson sued Erickson 

and moved the case to mandatory arbitration. (CP 1-4, 9-10) In May of 

2013, the arbitrator awarded in favor of Nelson as follows: special medical 

damages ($11,167.00); out-of-pocket ($234.59); general damages 
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($32,000); and attorney fees and costs ($1,522.19). (CP 832, 928,1081) 

Erickson filed a timely request for a trial de novo. (CP 12) On September 

25, 2013, Nelson presented Erickson with a written offer of compromise 

which stated: 

Pursuant to RCW 7.06.050 and MAR 7.3 Plaintiff JESS 
NELSON hereby offers to settle his claim against 
Defendant MICHAEL ERICKSON and JANE DOE 
ERICKSON in the amount of $26,000 plus taxable costs 
incurred at arbitration. This offer is open for ten calendar 
days after receipt of service. 

(CP 839) Erickson did not accept the offer, and the case proceeded to a 

jury trial. (CP 544) 

Nelson testified at trial, and he called several family members and 

friends as lay witnesses. (CP 553) Nelson also called Larry Harper, M.D. 

(his primary care doctor) and Daniel Washeck (his physical therapist) as 

witnesses. (CP 632) Nelson testified that he continued to experience pain 

in his neck. (RP 341) However, Nelson also testified that he had declined 

to participate in further physical therapy prescribed by Dr. Hardy and that 

he had stopped doing the exercises recommended by his chiropractor. (RP 

373) Further, since the accident, Nelson continued to work 50-60 hours 

per week. (RP 374-75) Nelson's own physician, Dr. Harper, 

acknowledged that he could not relate Nelson's ongoing pain complaints 

to the accident, and he could not say that the injuries were permanent. (RP 
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286) Further, Dr. Harper admitted that he could not say that Nelson 

required any further treatment.2 (RP 286) 

In addition to Erickson testifying on his own behalf, the defense 

also called a medical expert, Allen Jackson, M.D. Dr. Jackson had 

performed a physical examination of Mr. Nelson on March 6, 2013. (RP 

406) The examination included a large number of tests, all of which Mr. 

Nelson performed normally.3 (RP 407-17) Dr. Jackson observed through 

his extensive testing that Mr. Nelson did not demonstrate any positive 

findings to support continued injury. (RP 417) Further, Dr. Jackson's 

review of Nelson's post-accident MRI did not reveal any traumatic injury. 

(RP 422) Based on his examination and review of the records, Dr. 

Jackson determined that Nelson experienced a strain of his cervical spine 

and a strain of his lumbar spine related to the accident. (RP 417) The 

accident may have aggravated Nelson's pre-existing degenerative changes 

in his lower back, but the aggravation was only temporary. (RP 419) Dr. 

Jackson concluded that Nelson's treatment for 6-8 months after the 

2 At best, Dr. Harper responded to a hypothetical question that if Nelson were to come 
into his office with certain complaints, he would hypothetically recommend certain 
treatment. (RP 279) 

3 There was a slight difference in the recorded averages for cervical spine motion test, but 
Dr. Jackson did not believe these represented a restricted range of motion and rather was 
"a relatively normal exam." (RP 409-10,417) 
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accident was reasonable, but beyond that symptoms and treatment from 

them could not correlate to the accident. (RP 422) 

Dr. Jackson testified that Nelson's ongoing complaints of neck 

pain were not related to the collision. (RP 423) There was no objective 

evidence to correlate his subjective symptoms to the accident. (RP 423) 

Further, there was no objective measure to indicate that Mr. Nelson had 

sustained a permanent injury. (RP 424) Although Dr. Jackson did not say 

that Nelson was lying about his complaints, he was clear that Nelson's 

pain was not measurable, and there was no way to causally link it to the 

accident. (RP 424) 

The court instructed the jury on damages, including past and future 

medical treatment and a variety of past and future noneconomic damages. 

(CP 625-26) On November 8, 2013, the jury returned the special verdict 

form which read as follows: 

We, the jury, answer the questions submitted by this Court 
as follows: 

What do you find to be the amount of damages for each of 
the following: 

(1) 
(2) 
(3) 
(4) 
(5) 

(CP 635) 

Stipulated medical expenses: 
Past medical expenses: 
Future medical expenses: 
Past noneconomic damages: 
Future noneconomic damages: 
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$9,361.00 
$1,806.00 
$10,000.00 
$3,000.00 
$0.00 



Nelson moved the court for additur or a new trial. (CP 636-47) 

Erickson opposed the motion, and Nelson filed a reply. (CP 652-61, 664-

69) The court ruled as follows: 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED as follows: 

1) the request for oral argument IS DENIED; 

2) the motion for a new trial IS DENIED; 

3) the motion for an additur for future noneconomic 
damages IS GRANTED and an additur in the 
amount of $3,000.00 shall replace the jury award of 
$0.00. All other relief and the request for any other 
additional additur IS DENIED. 

The court finds that the lack of a jury award for future 
noneconomic damages in inconsistent with the evidence 
and the decision to award future medical expenses. The 
evidence supporting future medical expenses was based on 
uncontroverted testimony that the Plaintiff was continuing 
to experience pain now and in the future. The request for 
future treatment was specific to the treatment of that pain 
and there was no evidence to support any intervening cause 
for the pain. Although this court is reluctant to disturb a 
jury verdict, justice was not served by the verdict and an 
award that does not even acknowledge the pain while 
providing for future medical treatment is inconsistent. It is 
difficult for the court to substitute its judgment for a jury's 
determination of future pain and suffering, and despite 
Plaintiff s desire for a larger measure of damages, the court 
declines to exceed the value placed on Plaintiffs past pain 
and suffering. 

(CP 670-71) 

Erickson's motion to reconsider was denied. (CP 681-86, 728-29) 

Nelson moved for entry of a judgment of $29,661.74 - this included the 

jury verdict and additur in the amount of$27,167.00 and statutory costs in 
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the amount of $2,494.74. (CP 673-75) Ultimately, the court entered an 

order and judgment in the total amount of $27,896.98, which included 

$24,167.00 for the jury verdict, $3,000.00 for the additur, and $729.98 in 

costs. (CP 723-24) 

Nelson then filed a motion for attorney fees pursuant to MAR 7.3 

and RCW ch. 7.06. (CP 795-822) The court denied the motion for fees on 

January 6, 2014. (CP 1005-09) Nelson moved for reconsideration, and 

the court invited a response and reply. (CP 1010-18, 1024) The trial court 

then granted the motion for reconsideration and awarded fees in the 

amount of $58,980.00 and costs in the amount of $4,488.90. 4 (CP 1047-

55) On March 3, 2014, the court issued its Findings of Fact and 

Conclusions of Law Regarding Attorney's Fees and Costs and entered a 

Second Amended Judgment in the total amount of$91,365.88. (CP 1044-

46, 1047-53) Erickson timely appealed. (CP 1056-80) 

4 In a handwritten addendum to the order, the court stated as follows: 

The Ct. grants the Motion to Reconsider based on a re-reading of 
Niccum. This Ct. erred in the first instance by including costs in the 
offer. Mr. Nelson's offer of compromise was for $26,000.00. 
Defendant Erickson failed to improve his position at trial and PI. is 
entitled to fees + costs. 

(CP 1055) 
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V. ARGUMENT 

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW. 

The trial court's modification of a jury's determination of damages 

will be reviewed de novo by the appellate court and with the presumption 

that the verdict of the jury was correct. Usher v. Leach, 3 Wn. App. 344, 

345, 474 P.2d 932 (1970). In this case, a de novo review reveals that the 

trial court erred in granting additur in light ofthe trial testimony. 

The standard of review for a trial court's decision involving the 

interpretation of a court rule is de novo. See Kim v. Pham, 95 Wn. App. 

439,441,975 P.2d 544, rev. denied, 139 Wn.2d 1009 (1999). Similarly, a 

trial court's application of a statute is reviewed de novo. Basin Paving 

Co. v. Contractors Bonding and Ins. Co., 123 Wn. App. 410, 414,98 P.3d 

109 (2004). In this case, the superior court made a legal error in its 

interpretation and application ofRCW 7.06.050, 7.06.060, and MAR 7.3. 

B. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN AWARDING ADDITUR. 

1. There Is a Presumption in Favor of the Jury's Verdict. 

In Washington, there is a '''strong presumption'" that a jury's 

determination of the amount of damages is valid. Palmer v. Jensen, 81 

Wn. App. 148, 150,913 P.2d 413 (1996), quoting 16 David K. DeWolf & 

Keller W. Allen, WASH. PRAC., Tort Law and Practice § 4.44, at 97 

(1993). Regardless of the trial court's assessment of plaintiff's damages, 
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after a fair trial it may not substitute its own conclusions for those of the 

jury with regard to the amount of damages. See Tolli v. School Dist. No. 

267 of Whitman County, 66 Wn.2d 494, 495, 403 P.2d 356 (1965). The 

jury must remain the final arbiter of the value and effect of the evidence, 

including determining the credibility of the witnesses, the weight of their 

testimony, and the ultimate consequence of the evidence. See Scanlan v. 

Smith, 66 Wn.2d 601,603,404 P.2d 776 (1965). 

On review, an appellate court begins its analysis with the 

presumption that the jury's verdict was correct. Herriman v. May, 142 

Wn. App. 226, 234, 174 P.3d 156 (2007). Courts are obligated to view the 

question of whether "substantial evidence" exists to support a verdict in 

the light most favorable to party not requesting additur. Bunch v. Dept. of 

Youth Services, 155 Wn.2d 165, 176, 178, 116 P.3d 381 (2005). A new 

trial or additur must be denied if the verdict is within the range of credible 

evidence. See Robinson v. Safeway Stores, Inc., 113 Wn.2d 154, 161-62, 

776 P.2d 676 (1989). If there is any justifiable evidence upon which 

reasonable minds could reach conclusions to sustain the verdict, then the 

jury's verdict must stand. See Lockwood v. A C & S, Inc., 109 Wn.2d 235, 

243, 744 P.2d 605 (1987). 
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2. A Jury Is Not Required to Award General Damages. 

There is no per se rule that general damages must be awarded to 

every plaintiff who sustains an injury. Palmer v. Jensen, 132 Wn.2d 193, 

201, 937 P.2d 597 (1997). In fact, a "jury may award special damages and 

no general damages when 'the record would support a verdict omitting 

general damages.'" Gestson v. Scott, 116 Wn. App. 616, 620, 67 P.3d 496 

(2003) (quoting Palmer, 132 Wn.2d at 202). In Palmer, the jury awarded 

economic damages to the plaintiff, but no general damages. 132 Wn.2d at 

201. The Supreme Court reviewed the proceedings to determine if the 

omission of general damages was contrary to the record. Id. at 201-02. 

The court determined that the defense presented "no evidence" to refute 

the medical testimony of plaintiff s treaters. Id. at 196 (emphasis added). 

In the absence of contradicting testimony, the trial evidence demonstrated 

that plaintiff experienced pain and suffering related to the accident, and 

the jury's failure to provide general damages was contrary to the evidence. 

Id. at 203. Under these limited circumstances, the court determined that a 

new trial was appropriate. Id. 

However, if the evidence at trial calls into question the cause, 

degree, or credibility of alleged pain and suffering, a verdict awarding 

medical expenses without general damages may be within the range of 

evidence. See Lopez v. Salgado-Guadarama, 130 Wn. App. 87, 122 P.3d 
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733 (2005). In Lopez, the Court of Appeals upheld the jury's 

determination that no general damages were warranted despite awarding 

all of plaintiffs economic damages. Id. at 93. 

In contrast to the facts presented in Palmer the defense 
disputed every aspect of Mr. Lopez's damages. Defense 
experts testified no objective medical findings supported 
Mr. Lopez's extensive complaints of pain. Dr. Sears 
opined Mr. Lopez should have recovered from any injuries 
quickly after the accident. 

Id. at 92. The Lopez Court held that "the jury was entitled to conclude that 

the plaintiff incurred reasonable medical expenses as a result of the 

accident, while at the same time concluding he failed to carry his burden 

of proving general damages." Id. at 93. 

Similarly, in Herriman v. May, the defendant presented expert 

testimony that plaintiff s claimed pain was exaggerated and that she did 

not have an objective basis for her complaints or need future medical care. 

142 Wn. App. at 230, 233. The trial court granted additur, ruling that the 

evidence did not support the claim that plaintiffs pain was nonexistent or 

exaggerated. Id. at 231. The Court of Appeals reversed. The appellate 

court noted that the jury was entitled to agree with the defense expert and 

to reject plaintiffs testimony as not credible. Id. at 233. The record 

contained sufficient evidence to support the jury's award, and both additur 

and a new trial were inappropriate. Id. at 233-34. 
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3. The Trial Court Misapplied RCW 4.76.030. 

Washington statute allows for a trial court to grant a new trial, or 

award additur in the alternative, under limited circumstances: 

If the trial court shall, upon a motion for new trial, find the 
damages awarded by a jury to be so excessive or 
inadequate as unmistakably to indicate that the amount 
thereof must have been the result of passion or prejudice, 
the trial court may order a new trial or may enter an order 
providing for a new trial unless the party adversely affected 
shall consent to a reduction or increase of such verdict, and 
if such party shall file such consent and the opposite party 
shall thereafter appeal from the judgment entered, the party 
who shall have filed such consent shall not be bound 
thereby, but upon such appeal the court of appeals or the 
supreme court shall, without the necessity of a formal 
cross-appeal, review de novo the action of the trial court in 
requiring such reduction or increase, and there shall be a 
presumption that the amount of damages awarded by the 
verdict of the jury was correct and such amount shall 
prevail, unless the court of appeals or the supreme court 
shall find from the record that the damages awarded in such 
verdict by the jury were so excessive or so inadequate as 
unmistakably to indicate that the amount of the verdict 
must have been the result of passion or prejudice. 

RCW 4.76.030 (emphasis added). 

In this case, the trial court erred procedurally in awarding additur. 

According to RCW 4.76.030, if the court finds that the awarded damages 

are so inadequate as to indicate passion or prejudice, the remedy is to 

award a new trial "unless the party adversely affected shall consent to a 

reduction or increase of such verdict." (Emphasis added.) See Green v. 

McAllister, 103 Wn. App. 452, 462, 14 P.3d 795 (2000) (in a case 
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involving remittitur, the court should order a new trial unless the plaintiff 

consents to a reduced award). In this case, the trial court expressedly 

denied Nelson's motion for a new trial. (CP 670) However, the trial court 

then granted additur in the amount of $3,000.00 despite the fact that 

Erickson never consented. (Id.) Not only did Erickson oppose the motion 

for new trial or additur, but he also filed a motion for reconsideration of 

that order which was also denied. (CP 652-61, 681-86) Based on the 

unambiguous language of RCW 4.76.030,5 the trial court was not 

permitted to award additur without Erickson's consent. 

4. The Jury's Verdict Was Supported by the Evidence. 

Additur (or a new trial) was improper in this case because 

substantial evidence supported the jury's verdict. The court inaccurately 

stated in its ruling that there was "uncontroverted testimony that the 

Plaintiff was continuing to experience pain now and in the future." (CP 

670) The court similarly noted in its Finding of Fact No. 2 that "it was 

undisputed that Mr. Nelson's injuries were permanent, that he would 

continue to suffer pain in the future .... " (CP 1048) This is not true. 

Although plaintiff testified that he continued to experience pain, the nature 

5 When determining the meaning of a statute, a Washington court's fundamental 
objective is to ascertain the intent of the Legislature. State v. Campbell & Gwinn, LLC, 
146 Wn.2d 1,9-10,43 P.3d 4 (2002). 
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and cause of that pain was called into question throughout the trial. First, 

Nelson admitted that he was able to continue to work. (RP 374-75) He 

acknowledged that he declined to continue with recommended physical 

therapy or home exercises. (RP 373) This testimony could allow the jury 

to conclude that his ongoing pain complaints were overstated or untrue. 

Second, Dr. Jackson testified that through his review of the records and 

imaging studies and his extensive array of tests at a physical examination, 

he could not find any objective evidence to support Nelson's subjective 

pain complaints. (RP 417, 424) Dr. Jackson opined that if Nelson had 

any pain, it was not related to the accident. (RP 423) Finally, even 

Nelson's own physician admitted that he could not relate the ongoing pain 

complaints to the accident or testify that Nelson had any permanent 

injuries. (RP 286) Viewing the evidence in a light most favorable to the 

jury's verdict, there was ample evidence from which the jury could 

reasonably conclude that plaintiff was not entitled to future noneconomic 

damages. 

The court properly instructed the jury members that they were "the 

sole judges of the credibility of the witness." (Instruction No.1; CP 616) 

It also instructed them that in addition to economic damages they "should 

consider" a variety of noneconomic damages "with reasonable probability 

to be experienced in the future." (Instruction No.8; CP 625-26) The 
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court cautioned the jury that the "burden of proving damages rests upon 

the plaintiff' by a preponderance of the evidence. (CP 626) There is 

nothing in the record to suggest that the jury disregarded these 

instructions. 

Unlike Palmer in which "[t]he defendant presented no evidence to 

refute [plaintiffs] medical opinions," in this case, Erickson did present 

contradicting expert medical opinions. 132 Wn.2d at 196. The facts 

before this Court are more similar to those in Lopez, in which evidence at 

trial called into question the cause, degree, or credibility of alleged pain 

and suffering. 130 Wn. App. 87. In Lopez, "the jury was entitled to 

conclude that the plaintiff incurred reasonable medical expenses as a result 

of the accident, while at the same time concluding he failed to carry his 

burden of proving general damages." !d. at 93. As in Lopez, Erickson's 

medical expert testified that no objective medical findings supported

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