7170 9-0

No. 71709-0-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JESS NELSON,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

MICHAEL ERICKSON and JANE DOE ERICKSON, and the marital community composed thereof,

Defendants-Appellants.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

REED McCLURE By: Michael N. Budelsky WSBA No. 35212

1215 Fourth Avenue, Ste. 1700 Seattle, WA 98161-1087 (206) 292-4900

Attorney for Appellants Michael

Erickson and Jane Doe Erickson

PREMIER LAW GROUP PLLC By: Patrick Kang WSBA No. 30726 Jared D. Stueckle WSBA No. 43220

1408 140th Place NE Bellevue, WA 98007 (206) 285-1743

Attorneys for Respondent Jess Nelson

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

.

Furthermore, Erickson ignores the fact that Dr. Jackson testified that he treats patients who present with only subjective complaints of pain (RP 460-461); Mr. Nelson presented with objective findings after Jackson's 8 month cutoff (RP 327-328); and Jackson ignored his own objective findings of limited range of motion in Mr. Nelson's neck, findings that were below the AMA guidelines (RP 409-410). But the biggest problem with Jackson's testimony was simply that it did not make sense. Jackson testified that prior to the collision, Mr. Nelson was asymptomatic, but following the collision, Mr. Nelson developed neck and back pain symptoms. RP 442, 444. He also agreed that these symptoms continued through Mr. Nelson's treatment with a chiropractor, his family doctor, a spine specialist, and physical therapy. RP 444-445. Jackson also testified that the symptoms never went away. RP 445. Jackson went on to testify that Mr. Nelson's pain was now considered permanent. RP 450. Jackson also testified that there were no subsequent or intervening injuries to explain Mr. Nelson's symptoms. RP 459. Despite all of this, Jackson drew an arbitrary line at 8 months and said that Mr. Nelson should have recovered by then, and since he did not, his pain was somehow (perhaps magically) no longer related to the collision. In essence, at 7 months and 29 days, Mr. Nelson's complaints of neck pain would have been related, but those exact same complaints (for pain the never went away) two days later were no longer related. The internal logic of Jackson's testimony was completely lacking, and the jury saw right through it, disregarded it and awarded Mr. Nelson all of his medical specials (beyond Jackson's arbitrary 8 month cutoff) and \$10,000 in future medical specials. CP 635.

Erickson next contends that the jury's decision to not award future noneconomic damages was supported by sufficient evidence because Nelson's own physician "admitted that he could not relate the ongoing pain complaints to the accident or testify that Nelson had any permanent injuries." <u>See Appellant's Brief, p. 14, 16</u>. But Erickson's representation of Dr. Harper's testimony is not accurate.

Dr. Harper never admitted that he could not relate the ongoing pain complaint to the accident or that Nelson did not have permanent injuries.

22

On cross-examination, Dr. Harper admitted that when he was previously deposed by defense counsel he testified that he could not answer the questions of whether or not Mr. Nelson's ongoing pain complaints were related to the car crash. RP 285-287. He also admitted that at his deposition he testified that he could not answer the question of whether or not Mr. Nelson's injuries were permanent. RP 286-287. But on re-direct, Dr. Harper clarified that the reason he testified the way he did was because he had not seen Mr. Nelson for his injuries since 2011. RP 290-292. Nevertheless, according to Dr. Harper, it was Dr. Harper's opinion that if Mr. Nelson was still having symptoms with his neck and back some three years after the collision with no intervening events, then those symptoms were permanent and related to the collision. RP 292-293. In fact, Dr. Jackson even agreed that if Mr. Nelson was continuing to have ongoing pain, which never resolved and there was no other intervening or superseding event, then it was his opinion that the pain was permanent and related to the subject collision. RP 445, 450.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion by awarding an additur for future noneconomic damages where there was insufficient evidence to support the zero award. The trial court correctly concluded that the uncontroverted evidence established that Mr. Nelson was entitled to an award of future noneconomic damages. Therefore, the trial court's decision to grant an additur of \$3,000 should be affirmed.

C. The Washington Supreme Court's analysis in *Palmer v.* Jensen, 132 Wn.2d 193, 937 P.2d 597 (1997), is controlling in this case.

In *Palmer v. Jensen*, supra, our Supreme Court held that additur or a new trial was required when the evidence clearly established the plaintiff had been injured, but the jury awarded no damages for pain and suffering. Palmer was rear ended by Jensen. <u>Id</u>. at 195. The jury awarded Palmer a general verdict of \$8,414.89, the exact amount of her special damages, and then reduced the award by 25% for her contributory negligence. <u>Id</u>. at 196. On appeal, the Supreme Court held that the trial court abused its discretion in denying Palmer's motion for a new trial because the uncontroverted medical evidence substantiated Palmer's claim that she experienced pain and suffering for over two years after the accident, yet the jury's verdict failed to account for Palmer's pain and suffering as the verdict was precisely equal to her special damages only. <u>Id</u>. at 203. As a result, the *Palmer* Court concluded that the jury's verdict, which provided for no pain and suffering, was contrary to the evidence. <u>Id</u>.

Like *Palmer*, the jury's verdict in our case was contrary to the evidence. It was undisputed that Mr. Nelson was asymptomatic before the collision. It was also undisputed that after Mr. Nelson got struck by

Erickson he became symptomatic. It was also undisputed that Mr. Nelson continued to have ongoing symptoms with both Drs. Harper and Jackson opining that the ongoing symptoms were permanent. It was also undisputed that as a result of his ongoing symptoms Mr. Nelson's ability to participate in, and enjoy, certain activities has been affected. As a result, the jury awarded Mr. Nelson all of his past medical specials and \$10,000 for future medical specials, yet failed to award him anything for future noneconomic damages, even though it was undisputed that he would continue to have ongoing pain that would require future treatments. The jury's verdict was contrary to the evidence, and the trial court did not abuse its discretion by granting the additur. <u>See Myers v. Smith</u>, 51 Wn.2d 700, 321 P.2d 551 (1958) (finding prejudice in the verdict and granting a new trial on all issues, including liability, on grounds that prejudice tainted the entire verdict); RCW 4.76.030.

Nevertheless, Erickson unsuccessfully attempts to distinguish *Palmer* from the case at bar. <u>See Appellant's Brief</u>, p. 10. Erickson argues that unlike in *Palmer*, Erickson's expert, Dr. Jackson, did present contradicting expert medical opinions in that he concluded that there was no objective evidence to support Nelson's subjective complaints. <u>Id. at 14</u>. Jackson also opined that if Nelson did have ongoing pain that it was not related to the subject collision. <u>See id.</u> But the flaw with Erickson's

25

argument is that the overall verdict shows that the jury did not believe Dr. Jackson. If it had, the jury would not have awarded Mr. Nelson all of his past special damages (beyond the 8 month period that Jackson claimed was the cutoff point), nor would it have awarded Nelson \$10,000 for future medical treatment costs.

At trial, even though Jackson opined that there was no objective evidence to support Nelson's subjective complaints, Dr. Harper testified that it was common for people to only have subjective pain complaints without any objective evidence. RP 281-82. Harper also testified that certain soft tissue injuries are not objectively verifiable. <u>Id</u>. Furthermore, Dr. Jackson admitted during cross-examination that in his own personal practice he has treated patients with only subjective pain complaints even though there was no objective evidence. RP 460-61. Finally, Mr. Nelson's physical therapist, Dan Washeck, testified that Mr. Nelson did have objective findings of muscle guarding and lack of range of motion to support his pain complaints. RP 327-28, 338-39.

Based on all of the evidence presented at trial, the jury rejected Dr. Jackson's opinions and accepted Nelson's witnesses' opinions. But the jury erred by not awarding future noneconomic damages when it awarded future medical expenses, and the uncontroverted evidence established Nelson's ongoing pain and the effect it has had on his life. Thus, the trial court's decision to grant an additur for Mr. Nelson's future noneconomic damages was a correct application of the law.

Erickson argues that the facts of this case more closely resembles *Lopez v. Salgado Guadarama*, 130 Wn. App. 87, 122 P.3d 733 (2005), and *Herriman v. May*, 142 Wn. App. 226, 174 P.3d 156 (2007). <u>See Appellant's</u> *Brief*, p. 10-11. Erickson's reliance on *Lopez* and *Herriman* is misplaced.

In *Lopez*, the appellate court upheld the jury's determination not to award general damages, even though economic damages was awarded because the defense disputed every aspect of Mr. Lopez's damages, and Mr. Lopez's credibility was at issue.

Here, the jury's failure to award damages for pain and suffering was consistent with the evidence. In contrast to the facts presented in *Palmer*, the defense disputed every aspect of Mr. Lopez's damages.

Additionally, Mr. Lopez's credibility was at issue. He originally testified he was carried to the ambulance, but when questioned regarding who carried him, he admitted he walked. He also had a difficult time remembering the details of the accident and how much time he took off work.

Id. at 92-93.

. . .

Unlike *Lopez*, there was no dispute in our case whatsoever about the veracity of Mr. Nelson's pain and suffering, or how his pain affected his life. Even the defense expert testified that he believed that Mr. Nelson was still in pain, that his pain was permanent, and that it would be reasonable

for Mr. Nelson to seek future treatment (Dr. Jackson only disputed whether Mr. Nelson's symptoms after 6-8 months were related to the 2010 collision). Further, the defense argued in closing that there was no dispute as to Mr. Nelson's pain or how it has affected his life. RP 520, 522. The only dispute was whether the 2010 collision was the proximate cause of Mr. Nelson's pain after 6-8 months. As the *Lopez* court stated, "where the jury verdict approximates the amount of undisputed special damages and the injury and its cause is clear, the court has little hesitancy in granting a new trial." *Id.* at 91 (citing *Singleton v. Jimmerson*, 12 Wn. App. 203, 205, 529 P.2d 17 (1974)).

Even though the defense in this case did dispute damages as it related to causation, the jury verdict was clear that it rejected Erickson's argument that only 6-8 months of pain was caused by the 2010 collision. CP 635. Thus, the facts in this case are distinguishable from the facts in *Lopez*.

Moreover, even the court in *Lopez* recognized the maxim that "a plaintiff who substantiates her pain and suffering with evidence is entitled to general damages." *Lopez*, 130 Wn. App. at 91 (citing *Palmer*, 132 Wn.2d at 201). Mr. Nelson's evidence of ongoing pain and suffering, the permanency of the pain, and how it has impacted his life was undisputed.

As a result, Mr. Nelson was entitled to an award of future noneconomic damages and the trial court was correct in granting an additur.

Erickson's reliance on *Herriman v. May*, 142 Wn. App. 226, 174 P.3d 156 (2007), is also misplaced. In *Herrmian*, a division three case, the defense expert testified that tests for malingering showed that Herriman's pain appeared to be greatly exaggerated. <u>Id</u>. at 230. The defense expert also testified that Herriman's range of motion was greater when he secretly observed her in the waiting room compared to when he tested her in the examination room. <u>Id</u>. The jury awarded Herriman \$16,000 for past economic damages, \$0 for future economic damages, and \$3,000 for past and future loss of consortium. <u>Id</u>. at 231. On a motion for a new trial, the trial court granted additur, with an increased verdict of \$138,152 or a new trial unless the defendants agreed to increase the verdict. <u>Id</u>. at 231.

On appeal, the appellate court reversed the trial court's decision. <u>Id</u>. at 232. The appellate court ruled that because there was evidence that Herriman was exaggerating her symptoms and malingering, the jury could reject Herriman's testimony. <u>Id</u>. at 233. The court also pointed to the evidence of Herriman's preexisting physical problems and the evidence that her emotional distress was skewing her physical symptoms as additional bases to substantiate the jury's verdict. <u>Id</u>. The court also found that expert testimony, if believed, proved that Herriman was exaggerating her pain and that she should have recovered within three weeks after the accident. <u>Id</u>. at 234-235 (finding that "Herriman had no permanent injuries related to the accident, and no further medical treatment was needed").

. .

Unlike in *Herriman*, Dr. Jackson specifically testified that he believed Mr. Nelson was in pain and there was no evidence or suggestion of any kind that Mr. Nelson was faking, untruthful or malingering. RP 459. Moreover, while the plaintiff in *Herriman* had preexisting injuries and emotional distress problems which may have been affecting her pain, Dr. Jackson testified in our case that Mr. Nelson was asymptomatic prior to the collision. RP 442. Likewise, no evidence was introduced that in any way suggested that Mr. Nelson had emotional problems affecting, causing or contributing to his pain. RP 426-427. Thus, unlike *Herriman*, the jury in our case did not have sufficient evidence to refuse to award future noneconomic damages after concluding that Mr. Nelson's symptoms were ongoing and permanent, requiring future medical treatment.

Therefore, the trial court did not err in granting an additur when the jury awarded \$10,000 for future economic damages, but failed to award anything for future noneconomic damages. There was insufficient evidence to support \$0 future noneconomic damages when all of the uncontroverted testimony supported future pain and suffering, future loss of enjoyment of life and future inconvenience.

D. Erickson failed to raise the procedural defect to the trial court, and thus the issue was not preserved for review.

A party may assign error on appeal only on a specific ground made at trial. *State v. Guloy*, 104 Wn.2d 412, 422, 705 P.2d 1182 (1985), *cert. denied*, 475 U.S. 1020, 106 S.Ct. 1208, 89 L.Ed.2d 321 (1986). This objection gives a trial court the opportunity to prevent or cure error. *State v. Boast*, 87 Wn.2d 447, 451, 553 P.2d 1322 (1976).

The general rule is that appellate courts will not consider issues raised for the first time on appeal. RAP 2.5(a); *State v. Tolias*, 135 Wn.2d 133, 140, 954 P.2d 907 (1998); *State v. McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d 322, 332-33, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995); *see also State v. Grimes* 165 Wn. App. 172, 179, 267 P.3d 454, *review denied* 175 Wn.2d 1010, 287 P.3d 594 (2011) (ruling that appellate courts will not reward a party's failure to point out at an error which trial court, if given opportunity, might have been able to correct to avoid appeal); *Jones v. Hogan*, 56 Wn.2d 23, 28, 351 P.2d 153 (1960) (holding that if misconduct occurs, the trial court must be promptly asked to correct it, and counsel cannot remain silent, hoping for a favorable verdict, and when it is adverse, use claimed misconduct as a life preserver).

Erickson appeals the trial court's ruling granting Nelson's motion for additur or a new trial (and also for denying Erickson's motion for reconsideration of this ruling). Specifically, Erickson claims the trial court failed to follow the procedure of RCW 4.76.030 when it denied Nelson's request for a new trial and granted the additur because the statute requires the trial court to have offered Erickson a choice of a new trial or additur.

But Erickson never raised this issue with the trial court. After the trial court granted the additur Erickson moved for reconsideration of the order granting the additur, but failed to raise the procedural defect with the trial court. CP 122. "An issue involving compliance with a procedural rule rather than a constitutional issue may not be raised for the first time on appeal." *A&W Farms v. Cook*, 168 Wn. App. 462, 470, 277 P.3d 67 (2012). As a result, this issue was not preserved and thus not properly before this Court.

Nevertheless, if this Court was to accept review of the trial court's procedural defect under RCW 4.76.030 and conclude that the trial court erred, the appropriate remedy would be to remand the matter back to the trial court to give Erickson the option of a new trial or accept the additur.

E. Attorney fees were properly awarded by the trial court upon finding that Erickson did not improve his position at the trial de novo.

Erickson next contends that the trial court erred by awarding Nelson attorney's fees pursuant to MAR 7.3 and RCW 7.06.050. According to Erickson, the trial court should have included taxable costs into Nelson's offer of compromise, which would have resulted in Erickson improving his position at the trial de novo. Erickson's contention is without merit.

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